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Map of Llangarron 
 

Highlighting the location of places mentioned in the following pages. 
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This is the history of Llangarron as remembered by Stan and Mary Fryer.   Stan, born in 
1927, has lived in the village all his life and seen many changes over the last 80+ years. 
We have tried to record some of the village’s development for the interest of future 
residents.  Below (left) are Stan and Mary outside their cottage (Rock Cottage), where 
they have lived since 1953. 

 
 

 
Stan and his wife outside their cottage (Rock Cottage) 

 
Across the junction from Rock Cottage is Cobblers Point 

- This was Stan’s childhood home 
 
 

 
 

 

  
         The Village Post Office   Now a cottage known as ‘The Old Post Office’
  
 

The left hand picture shows the original Llangarron Post Office.  Stan was born at 
Treribble Cottage and then moved to Pear Tree Cottage, before moving into the Cobblers 
Point in 1934 when he was seven years old, (pictured top right) which is situated opposite 
the Old Post Office at this road junction.  As a child Stan doesn’t remember the post office 
being across the road as by the time he was living at Cobblers Point, the post office had 
already been moved down into the village opposite the church, where it remained as a 
post office and Village Shop until it closed in 1995.   
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Cobblers Point was lived in by Jim Campbell, who was Mary’s brother in law, until 
unfortunately Jim died in a fire in the cottage in 2003.  During 2009 the cottage was 
completely renovated.    

 

 
The Water Fountain - Llangarron 

 
Left is one of the village water fountains, 
this one is about 100 yards down 
towards the village centre from Rock 
Cottage. Villagers had to fetch all their 
water from one of these before mains 
water was brought into the village.   
There were other fountains near The 
Butts Garage, the school and on the 
Herbert’s Hill Road. 
 

 
The picture below left, shows the house, now known as Hanover, which was the original 
Police Station.  Stan remembers a PC Greenway being the resident constable here. 
 

In the 1930’s a new police station was built, now known as The Old Police House 
(pictured right), and Stan remembers the first policeman to be posted here was a PC 
Morgan.    

 

 
This was the original Police Station. (Hanover) 

 

 
                    The Old Police House 

-  next door to Dovecote Nursing Home. 
 

PC Morgan used to have a Morgan car (a three wheeler with the engine in the front) and 
as a boy Stan remembers thinking that perhaps important people could have their 
chosen model of car named after them.  
 

The Old Police Station has been extended several times since it was originally built. 
Next door used to be an apple orchard, with a small wooden bungalow. The Orchard 
has since been developed and is now the site of a nursing home known as Dovecote. 
 

There was a working police house in the village until the 1970’s.  During trips to Hereford 
Stan still bumps into the policeman who used to be stationed there.  He’s now retired, 
needless to say. 
 

There was only one policeman posted in the village, but he knew every villager by name 
and Stan remembers him as a nice chap.  The last policeman stationed in the village 
was PC Morrissey who Stan taught to drive, however, PC Morrissey still used his 
pushbike for work – the car was just for pleasure! 
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Above is the weir and sluice gate to hold back the stream to drive the water wheel for use by the mill. 
 

Opposite Rock Cottage, down across the field, there used to be a water wheel which 
needed to be checked daily by a man from Llangrove to ensure the water pump was 
working properly.  He used to park his car on the side of the road near Stan’s Cottage 
and Stan remembers one day as Mary (Stan’s wife) was coming home, walking down the 
road, when she saw two men trying to get into the car.  Mary shouted at them and they 
ran off but the policeman, alerted by Mary’s shouts, chased after them and eventually 
caught them at Symonds Yat. 
 
The house below was previously the Carpenter’s Shop known as the Cabback.   Mr. 
Probert was Llangarron’s resident carpenter and among other things he was responsible 
for making coffins when necessary.  The last coffin Mr. Probert made was for Stan’s father 
when he died in 1961.    
 

 
Originally the Carpenters Shop - the Cabback, 

 now a cottage known as Upper Cabbage 
  

Mr. Probert also used to make the wooden wheels for the horse drawn wagons, as did 
his father before him.  During the 1920’s Mr. Probert’s father used to make furniture - 
Stan believes he made furniture for Jacky Jones at Treworgan, the big farm in the next 
village (Llangrove).  The Stone section on the right was a big shed which used to have a 
lot of machinery in it such as lathes etc. for making the furniture.  Stan used to park his 
van in there but this was after the carpenters shop had closed down. 
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Now known as the Butts Garage – home and business of Ted Lane, MOT & Car Servicing 
 

The Butts Garage (above) was once a bakery with the cottage next door.  Stan remembers 
the village once had two bakeries.  One of these businesses was run by the Reynolds 
brother’s (Fred and Arthur) who were based at the Butts.  They used to bake the bread 
here and in the early days they would deliver it with a horse and trap. They baked and 
delivered every day.  As motorised vehicles became more affordable they bought two vans 
for delivering and as a lad Stan used to go with them on their rounds.  Stan remembers the 
loaves used to have four corners on them when they left the bakery; however, they were 
often missing a couple before they were delivered as Stan used to break them off and eat 
them whilst doing the rounds!  
 

What is was last a vehicle workshop next to the cottage was the bakery.  Ted Lane, who 
has been at the Butts for many years, converted the bake house into a workshop and also 
built the newer garage and pit for his vehicle repairs and MOT business.   
 
Stan remembers at the end of the war Major Maunsell, who lived at Little Tredunnock, ran 
a fruit farm at Treessey, growing apples, blackcurrants and strawberries.   He employed 
many of the women in the village to help at harvest time, including Stan’s wife Mary. 
 

The main road through the village does not have a name, but Stan says it was always 
referred by the villagers as the Llangrove Road.   
 

Below are pictures of what was the local village school, at the heart of the village opposite 
the church. This is where Stan and the other village children went to school. A house called 
Church View has been built on what used to be the school playing field.  Stan remembers 
playing football on the field as a youngster.   
 

 

    
 

Llangarron School.   It’s now a private house known as ‘The School House’. 
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The Village Post Office and Shop 
 
 

 
This was the local shop and Post Office up until 1995. This 
is now two private dwellings known as Llangarron House 

and Garron Cottage  
 
 

 
This view shows the shop entrance and  

beyond was storage for coal & the petrol pump 

The top picture shows Llangarron 
House with what was the local 
shop and post office up until 
1995.  The shop was the single 
story behind the house and along 
the roadside, situated opposite 
the Church 
     
The entrance to the post office 
and shop was up the steps, 
pictured below, through a door 
which has now been blocked off, 
but remains as a window, when 
the shop was converted into a 
granny annex. The shopkeeper 
used to live in Llangarron house. 
 
In Stan’s younger days the shop 
was the General Stores and sold 
everything you might need for day 
to day living, including coal and 
petrol.  The village was fairly self-
sufficient in those days, with 
bakers, carpenter, blacksmith 
and a pub and bus depot. 
 
The stores coal shed was 
accessed via the driveway at the 
back of the shop. This 
photograph is of the front where 
customers would access the 
shop.  There was a petrol pump 
just in front of the black wooden 
doorway.  Stan’s remembers the 
pump being very slow and you 
had to pump the handle, not just 
pull a trigger like today. 

 
The Village School was just to the right behind the signpost at the back of the picture, on 
the bend of the road 
 
Going back to 1873 it seems Llangarron house was sold by J. Pope to Rev. H. Potts which 
implies that perhaps this was once the Vicarage which seems logical with its proximity to the 
church.    The Reverend sold the house December 1903 to a Mrs. Banton and from this time 
it was in private hands.  From 1957 it is believed the shop was leased to various tenant 
shopkeepers until 1964 when it was bought by Mr. Briggs (see newspaper article – page 29) 
who did a substantial amount of renovation.  The Tatlow’s were the last shopkeepers in 
Llangarron having bought the premises in 1981 and they sold the property in 2004. 
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The Church and Village Hall 
 
Where the car park is now, there used to be a cottage known as Church Cottage where 
a couple by the name of Mr & Mrs Farmer lived.  When they moved the cottage was 
knocked down and the site made into the church car park.  
 
Stan’s father came from Gloucestershire and his mother came from Sellack.  Both are 
buried here, together with Stan’s sister.  He had just the one sister, Jean who died when 
she was only six years old in 1936.   Stan’s mother also died when Stan was just 10 years 
old - she was part of a family of 11siblings, which consisted of 9 girls and 2 boys.  
 

 
 

 
 

Llangarron’s Church, St Deinst, is in the centre of the village opposite the old Village Shop  
 
Currently there are plans to convert the North Isle of the church to serve as a community centre, 
replacing the existing Village Hall.   Stan’s father was one of those involved in building the current 
Village Hall (below) and Stan feels a little sad about the proposal to move away from the Village 
Hall to a new Community Centre in the church; the old hall holds lots of memories for him.   
 

 
Llangarron Village Hall 
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Below shows a plaque that resides in the Llangarron Church, which was commissioned by Mrs. Watts 
whose boyfriend was the navigator on the Mosquito plane which crashed in Llangarron in 1944.  Stan 
was 16 when the plane came down, and having heard the crash rushed round to Llangstone Court to 
investigate as did several other villagers.  Mary and her friend had cycled over to see what had 
happened and it was at this site that Stan first set eyes on Mary.  Seven years later they married at St. 
Weonards Church and in July 2010 they celebrated their Diamond Wedding. 
 
The plaque just says ‘Killed at Llangarron’ but it didn’t provide any story of what actually happened 
which Stan felt was a shame as this was a big event in Llangarron at the time.  Stan did some research 
and found a copy of the story from the Ross Gazette archive which is now in the church near the plaque. 
He wanted to put a copy of it on the wall, but wasn’t allowed to do so.   
 

 
Plaque at the Church 

     
    The Memorial Service  

 
This is the site of the 1944 Air Crash 

 
 

It was many years after the crash that the navigator’s family decided to try to trace where his plane 
came down. 
 

Ted Richardson, the Hon Secretary of Royal Australian Air Force wrote to Chris Jones who currently 
lives at Llangstone Court where the crash happened to ask if he had any information about the crash.   
Chris had only been in the village 12 years, but passed the letter on to Stan.  Stan replied to Ted with 
the story as he remembered it from his boyhood.    A week later Stan received a letter from Mrs. Watts 
who was the Navigators girlfriend at the time of the crash – she had always thought he had been lost 
over France. 
 
In the meantime, the Pilots daughter had been trying to piece her father’s story together, and in following 
the trail which took her via Goodrich and Llangrove, she was again redirected to Stan, who was able to 
give her the details she was searching for. 
 
Although Stan had found out about the navigator’s family he didn’t know anything about the pilot’s family 
until very recently.   The pilot’s daughter wanted to find out what had happened to her father but only 
knew his plane had come down in Herefordshire.   She started her search around Goodrich and was 
directed to Llangrove.   The vicar there sent her on to meet Stan as he knew Stan had already done 
some research about the crash for the navigator’s girlfriend.  Stan remembers Mary answering the door 
and shouting to him that there was a lady to see him and to his complete surprise it was the pilot’s 
daughter.  He was now able to relate the events of that day to her and her family, completing the story 
for the family as well as for Stan and Mary.   When the family came to visit the site they took Stan and 
Mary out to lunch and still remain in touch. 
 
Also in the church is a book listing the local men that were killed in the Second World War and where 
they were buried.  Stan actually knew many of them.  It was published by a man from the village 
 
Mrs. Watts also wrote two books called ‘Tales of a Bomber Command WRAF and her Horse’ and a 
second book – ‘More Tales of Bomber Command WRAF and her Horse’.   The proceeds (about £3000) 
went to the RAF benevolent fund and Stan helped to sell over 100 of these books. 
 

(See newspaper articles for more information about the crash and subsequent visits of the pilot and navigators relatives) 
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Llangstone Court – the Site of the Plane Crash 
 

 
Llangstone Court Barn Conversions 

 

 
Llangstone Court 

 

 

Llangstone Court  
 

 
 
 
 
 
These pictures show Llangstone 
Court as it is today.  The Mosquito 
Plane came down in the fields 
close by. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
During the war Stan remembers 
Evacuees coming to the village. 
He says... I nearly married one – 
I was only 12.  Her name was 
Betty Woods.  She went back 
home in 1942.  I was very sweet 
on her.   
 
In 1982, I got home one night and 
Mary said get yourself ready, 
there’s someone to see you, and 
this girl from London had come to 
see me after nearly 40 years.  
Sadly six months later she died of 
cancer.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(see newspaper clip ‘Too Close for 
Comfort’ for other evacuees story 
about the plane crash - page 19) 
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On The Busses with Stan 
 

This yard is situated at the bottom end of the village by the hump backed bridge and is 
behind what used to be the village pub (The Three Horseshoes).  The shed pictured below, 
which still remains, was in Stan’s working days the local bus company depot. 

 

   
This was the Llangarron bus depot where Stan worked as driver, as it is today. 

 
Stan started working on the buses, in charge of the doors, when he was just 10 years old.  
Later at 12 years old he became the conductor and was given time off school to perform 
these duties. There was great demand for the buses during the war years as even those 
few with cars would take the bus because of the petrol rationing at this time.  Stan started 
taxi driving in 1944 when he was 17 years old driving a Buick and a Studebaker.   At this 
time it was not necessary to sit a driving test to be able to drive cars; however, you did need 
to sit a test to become a bus driver.    

 

        
Stan with his Bus                                      Stan aged 12, with Mr. Tummey      

 
In 1946 Stan joined the Air Force for his two years National Service.  On his return he took 
his bus drivers test and became one of the village bus drivers. 
 

Of his bus driving days Stan remembers...  We ran a regular service into Ross from 
Llangrove - on a Saturday there would be seven runs back and forth.  We also used to do 
trips down to Barry, Porthcawl, up to Blackpool for the lights and various other trips. 
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There used to be 3 or 4 drivers at 
any one time who worked for Percy 
Tummey the owner of the bus 
company.  He used to have fleet of 
3 to 4 buses at any one time, but 
over the time Stan worked for him, 
he can remember driving about a 
dozen different buses in total.   
Percy started out working as a 
driver for H. W. Matthews and then 
he bought his own bus just before 
the war, which was the start of his 
own business in Llangarron called 
Llangrove Coach Service. 
  
There was a munitions factory in 
Hereford which employed many 
villagers, so the bus would provide 

a service from Llangarron to the factory three times a day for those working at the factory, 
plus a service for the schools, so it was quite busy – few people had cars so most relied on 
the buses. 

 
Stan finished on the buses in 
1951.   After this he went to work 
for Singleton and Cole who were 
wholesale tobacconists.  Stan 
started working in the shop – 
learning the trade.  In 1952 he 
became one of the van drivers, 
delivering for the company, 
covering all of South Wales.  In 
1957 he became a sales rep for 
the company and did this for the 
next 33 years. 
 
An event which stands out in 
Stan’s memory from the early 
days on the buses was his 
discovery of a dead body in the 
brook behind the bus shed. 
 
Stan remembers.... ‘There was no mains water in the early days so we had to collect water 
from one of the village stand pipes. However, there was the brook running along the side 
of the coach yard so the drivers would to go down to the brook with a bucket and bring 
the water back up to the yard to wash the busses.  I used to walk along the stream behind 
the bus shed as a kid to get wood for the fire.  I was about 12 or 13 and went down to the 
book for some water one day and discovered a dead man in the brook.  It turned out his 
name was Bill Cole.  It was estimated he’d been there about 3 weeks before I found him, 
and assumed he had come out of the pub, perhaps having one too many bottles of cider, 
and fallen in the brook as he had still got his bottle of cider and his watch on him.  Some 
railings have been put up since then, but before that there was nothing to stop you walking 
into the stream.   Stan remembers being given two shillings (10p. in today’s money!) for 
attending the inquest’.   

Coaches parked in the yard at Llangarron behind the Three 
Horseshoes pub. 

Stan with his original ticket machine 
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Below left is a picture of what used to be the Llangarron village pub knows as 
The Three Horseshoes which ceased trading in 1970. 

 

       
    The local pub – the Three Horseshoes                This View shows the coach yard entrance behind the pub 

                   with the Blacksmiths house on the left of the picture 
 

The previous occupant was Mr. Ravenscroft who died a couple years ago.   He ran a scrap 
yard, but it seems he was often reluctant to sell many items except at a fairly high price so 
his relatives had a lot of tidying up to do after his death and the yard was crammed full of 
stuff.  Stan could remember a Propeller that used to stand against the wall which Mr. 
Ravenscroft would never sell.  The house is currently in the process of being renovated. 
 
When Stan was a young boy, he can remember coming down to the pub with his dad.  His 
Dad would to go into the pub and Stan would have to sit outside and wait for him.   
 
Across the junction by the Three Horse Shoes is what used to be the Blacksmith’s shop.  
Below is the Blacksmiths house (Bridge House - right) and the Blacksmith’s shop was next to 
it at The Forge (left).  Burt Stevens owned The Forge then and his son John Stevens was one 
of the Llangarron men killed during the war  
 
The property is still known as The Forge but now belongs to Mr. John Payne who, together 
with his son, runs a family business servicing the agricultural vehicles which have replaced 
the horses. 

 

     
       ‘The Forge’                 Bridge House once the blacksmiths house 
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The Llangarron Bakeries 
 

For a while the village had two Bakeries.  Although they must have competed against 
one another, Stan doesn’t remember there ever being any squabbling between the two 
businesses, so assumes they must have come to some agreement about baking on 
different days, or each having specific rounds they served or perhaps there was more 
demand than one baker could supply, after all there was little mechanisation in those 
days.   
 

 
  Garronfield – Once a second bakery in Llangarron 

 

 
Trereece Mill Llangarron 

 
 

 
Trereece Cottage, Llangarron 

 
 
 

Garronfield, which is on the 
road a couple of hundred yards 
before the mill, used to be the 
premises of the one of the two 
Bakeries in Llangarron.  Firstly 
it was owned by the Beards 
and later sold to Smiths.  
 
  

 

To the South of Llangarron, in 
the Garron River valley is 
Trereece Mill. This stone built 
mill and mill house are now 
used as a dwelling and store 
sheds but the mill wheel still 
exists. Described as newly 
erected in 1842, the weir 
remains in the river with its 
lead being about 600 yards 
long on the inside of the 
horseshoe bend in the river. It 
ceased operating c1900. 

 
 
 
 
Trereece Cottage, just past 
The Mill is where the Reynolds 
brothers originally started their 
bakery business.  Later they 
moved the business to the 
centre of the village at the 
Butts, which now belongs to 
Ted Lane and is a garage and 
MOT centre  
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Originally, Trereece was the farm that was the residence of the 
main landowner in Llangarron, Mr. Frank Scudamore. 

 

 
Trereece Farm, Llangarron 

 
 
 

      
               Trereece Barn                                      Trereece Barn -     View from the back 

 
 

Fred Carpenter has converted and renovated this old barn and up until recently also ran 
his business from Trereece Barn which was a cycle hire business called Pedalaway.   He 
has recently sold the business which has now been relocated to Ross-on-Wye.
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Another recent renovation is the big barn below known as Upper Trereece which is owned by Mr. 
Pearson.  Stan was invited to house-warming at the barn and took some of the books he was 
selling books for the RAF Benevolent Fund.    There were only about a dozen people there but 
he managed to sell five of the books, once a salesman – always a salesman.   

 

      
Mr. Pearson converted this barn now known as Upper Trereece  

  

 

 
 
 
Behind the barn at Little Trereece Farm is 
a local business - Phillips Windows 
providing double glazed doors and 
windows 
 
 
 

 
 

Little Trereece Farm 
 
 

 
The site of the ‘Sheep Dip’ 

 
              Trecilla Farm 
 

 

 
 
 

On the left is a picture of a part of the Garron 
Brook which used to be dammed up to create 
a sheep dip, to treat the sheep. 
 
Stan remembers that there was always a 
policeman to oversee this operation to ensure 
that they dipped the sheep properly.  Stan is 
not sure if any chemicals were use or just the 
river water.  They used to drive the sheep 
down the main road to be dipped.  
 
 
Trecilla was one of the bigger farms and like 
many of the farms around, used to make their 
own cider. This provided work for the villagers 
at harvest time and the women would bring 
big baskets of sandwiches and cakes for the 
men to eat, for their tea.  Stan used to go 
round the farms to see which was offering the 
best fare!  They also used to make cider at the 
pub.  Stan recollects it was fairly potent stuff; 
you could only needed two pints to feel very 
merry.  
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